
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 2 September 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 
 

Thursday, 10 September 2020 at 1.00 pm 
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely using Skype 

for Business 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Penny 
Milnes, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

 

Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 

Councillor Annie Mason, the Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 10 September 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

Rural and 

Communities 

Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/S7Z5GW69
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

 
1.   Comments from members of the public 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 

discretion 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for consideration at the 

meeting 

 

   
4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 18 June 2020 (Pages 3 - 9) 

   
5.   Updates from the previous meeting  

   
6.   Verbal Updates from Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, on the current situation: 

 The Traveller Community 

 Disabled Facilities Grant 

 Housing Repairs 

 

   
7.   Equality Annual Position Statement 

To consider the 2019/20 position statement for Equalities 
(Pages 11 - 39) 

   
8.   Feedback from the Workshop to Explore Future Working with the 

Voluntary and Community Sector 
Verbal update from a recent workshop of the Committee 

(Verbal Report) 

   
9.   Review of Community Funding 

Review of existing community funding streams 
(Pages 41 - 53) 

   
10.   Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review and the Impact of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act: SKDC perspective 
Report detailing local homelessness information, and the SKDC view of the 

Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review 

(Pages 55 - 63) 

   
11.   Work Programme (Pages 65 - 68) 

   
12.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



 
 

Meeting of the 
Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Thursday, 18 June 2020, 2.00 pm 

 

 

 
 

 
Committee Members present 
  
Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
 

Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Cabinet Members 
Cabinet Member for Communities, Councillor Annie Mason 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning, Councillor Robert Reid 
 
Officers  
Community Engagement & Policy Development Officer (Carol Drury) 
Elections and Democratic Support Officer (Jack Gardner) 
Assistant Chief Executive Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon) 
Strategic Director Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West)  
 

 
Opening Remarks from the Chair 
 
The meeting started with the Chair expressing gratitude to NHS and key workers 
during lockdown and this sentiment was echoed by the Vice-Chair who gave her 
thanks to those who worked within the community hub as well as those volunteers 
who worked across the council.  
 

48. Comments from Members of the Public 
 
No comments were received from members of the public. 
 

49. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

50. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were no disclosures of interest. 
 

51. Action Notes from the meeting held on 20 February 2020 
 
The following correction was made to the previous meeting’s action notes - 
change “The Chairman reiterated her thanks to the Community Engagement 
and Policy Development Officer for her work in putting the document together. 
She proposed that Committee agree to the mandatory safeguarding training 
by elearning, to recommend that the Cabinet adopt the Policy with fewer 
acronyms and that the Safeguarding credit cards be circulated to all Members 
of the Council” to read “The Chairman reiterated his thanks to the Community 
Engagement and Policy Development Officer for her work in putting the 
document together. He proposed that Committee agree to the mandatory 
safeguarding training by elearning, to recommend that the Cabinet adopt the 
Policy with fewer acronyms and that the Safeguarding credit cards be 
circulated to all Members of the Council” (amended wording shown in bold) 
 
Subject to the amendment above being made, the notes from the previous 
meeting were agreed as a correct record. 
 

52. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
There were no updates from previous meetings. 
 

53. Verbal Update from Cabinet Members 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning delivered updates on the 
following subjects to the Committee. 
 

Garden Maintenance Scheme 
The draft garden maintenance scheme for 2020/21 was almost complete and 
would be brought to the committee for scrutiny at the meeting on the 11 
September 2020. Garden maintenance works had been interrupted due to 
staff being seconded to critical roles during Covid-19 and this had resulted in a 
backlog of work that was to be completed as staff returned to their substantive 
roles. The Cabinet Member wished to convey his thoughts to the wellbeing of 
residents who may have been affected by the suspension of garden 
maintenance.   
 
Frozen Pipes 
Frozen pipes occur at temperatures below -11°c and the council had identified 
200 properties that were at risk. Work had been completed to remedy this 
issue in all but 27 properties. The work to resolve these issues had been 
suspended during Covid-19 and would be restarting on 1 July 2020.  

 

4



 
 

Disabled Facilities Grants 
Work had been suspended for all but the most critical cases during lockdown. 
The Cabinet Member informed the committee that there were twenty cases 
ready for site work to be completed. However, processing of applications 
continued in preparation for the restarting of works.  The installation of stairlifts 
and external works had now resumed (following Covid-19 risk assessments 
for each case and then only with the full agreement of the applicant).  Other 
works were expected to re-commence from 29 June.  20 cases were ready for 
works to be started on site and it was expected that Occupational Therapists 
would re-start assessments shortly.  The demand for Disabled Facilities 
Grants had not reduced, however, there would be a “lag” as Occupational 
Therapy assessments started to come through and contractors returned to 
work.  Members thanked the staff who facilitated disabled facilities grants and 
installed equipment and thanked them for the excellent work that they carry 
out for South Kesteven residents.  
 
Housing Repairs 
Members were informed that the focus remained on conducting urgent 
repairs. These were repairs which must be completed within twenty-four hours 
of being reported. Some external non-urgent repairs had started from 1 June 
2020 and it was planned to start some internal routine repairs from 1 July 
2020. There was a backlog of repairs and work had started to prioritize the 
backlog and in doing so to consider the individual needs and vulnerabilities of 
residents. A member asked if dangerous cladding was an issue within the 
district and the Cabinet Member stated that any issues with cladding had been 
resolved in a previous project.  
 
Homelessness 
All approaches for accommodation as a result of homelessness made to the 
council during lockdown had been offered accommodation and put into some 
form of temporary housing. This had incurred additional costs as the council’s 
supply of temporary accommodation had initially been exceeded in a three-
week spike in demand at the beginning of April. At that point, alternative 
accommodation options such as bed and breakfasts had been used. Minor 
voids had been used as accommodation and this had required additional work 
to bring these properties back to a fit for purpose state after being used. This 
was due in part to recycling centres and charity shops having been closed 
during lockdown, resulting in some residents leaving items behind which 
required disposal. Members enquired about the work to offer permanent 
housing to the homeless. The Cabinet Member explained that often demand 
for housing decreased during the warmer summer months, as for various 
reasons some homeless people either are unable to, or do not wish to enter 
permanent accommodation. He went on to mention the work of the Housing 
Solutions team in preventative measures to avoid rough sleeping for those at 
risk of becoming homeless. The committee also heard that the district has 
been asked to take in a number of early release prisoners and were working 
closely with Lincolnshire County Council in creating solutions for these cases.  

5



 
 

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources was unable to attend the 
Committee meeting, and the following update was provided on his behalf: 
 
Stop the Knock 
The committee heard that work on this project had been suspended during the 
Covid-19 pandemic, but it was believed that a report was due to be 
considered by the Cabinet in September 2020.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities provided updates on the following 
areas: 
 
Local Lessons Learned from Covid-19 
Members heard of the work undertaken by the Communications team in using 
social media to spread government guidance on staying safe. The Committee 
wished to ensure that citizens did not become complacent or underestimate 
the dangers posed by Covid-19. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive – Housing Delivery went on to talk about the 
lessons learned from working in the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum and the 
advantages that such a partnership gave in information and experience 
sharing across the region. As time progressed system changes took place 
within the forum which had increased understanding and better differentiated 
areas of responsibility between the organisations involved. Members heard 
that the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum continued to work together and meet 
on a weekly basis which allowed for lessons learned to be shared between 
authorities.   
 
Members were informed that the Deputy Leader was overseeing the councils 
work to provide support, information and marshalling to assist businesses and 
help them comply with social distancing rules. The Chair asked for a verbal 
update on this work from the Deputy Leader at a future meeting. The 
committee asked if the reduced presence of marshals in recent weeks could 
have led to members of the public not following the two-metre distancing 
guidance while queuing for shops within the district. The Cabinet Member 
agreed that it was concerning that residents were not following the guidance. 
The committee heard that the approach of Lincolnshire Police had continued 
unchanged, and that they were now starting to adapt their response as 
government guidance was updated. The CCTV (Closed Circuit Television) 
team had been working closely with Lincolnshire Police to identify areas 
where social distancing rules were not being adhered to. A member spoke of 
their concerns that residents were not taking suitable precautions such as 
wearing face coverings and gloves. Committee members expressed their 
thanks to officers of the council for their hard work during the restrictions and 
also thanked key workers such as those working in the NHS.   
 

6



 
 

ACTIONS 
  
The draft 2020/21 Garden Maintenance scheme to be considered at the 
meeting on 10 September 2020. 
 
The Deputy Leader to provide a verbal update at the meeting on 10 
September 2020 on the work to support local businesses 
 

54. SK Community Hub (The Hub) 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities thanked all members and officers who 
worked in the community Hub, conducting befriending calls and offering their 
support to residents during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Cabinet Member 
went on the discuss how the Hub was created in an extremely narrow 
timeframe and how the Hub looked to mainstream and build on the success of 
the Hub as staff began to transition back to their substantive roles.  
 

The Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer informed the 
committee that the Hub was created due to initial confusion as to which 
authority would provide direct support to residents. Seventeen SKDC staff 
volunteers, all without any background in this new type of support, had worked 
in the Hub. The Hub worked closely with the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum as 
this was the organization tasked by central government to provide support to 
residents. From 21 March 2020 communications were sent out to local 
community groups, organisations and individuals to gather volunteers to assist 
residents during lockdown. This resulted in the Hub having coverage of 29 
wards within the district, with the remaining ward covered by volunteers 
working within that area separately from the Hub.  
 
By 18 June 2020, the Hub had received 2,000 calls and had worked with 
groups such as BHive and Evergreen to coordinate the volunteer response to 
these calls. There were many advantages of working with local groups, such 
as the ability to respond quickly to shopping requests which could, if required 
be repaid on invoice to residents at a later date and the use of experienced 
local coordinators. All groups registered with the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum were able to make use of Lincolnshire County Council indemnity 
insurance. This covered both the group and the individuals volunteering within 
the group.  
 
Members heard that as restrictions eased the pressures on the Hub would be 
reduced but there was a need to build on the excellent work of the Hub and 
create a legacy. The committee heard that ongoing cover for the Hub would 
continue to be provided by staff who remained unable to return to their 
substantive roles due to ongoing restrictions. There was also a need to remain 
vigilant in case of a second wave of the virus. Members were informed that 
should such a wave occur the Hub was positioned to quickly respond.  
Members heard that there was a need to transition incoming calls into the 
existing Customer Services team and the council’s out-of-hours offer.  

7



 
 

 
The committee heard that volunteer groups that had worked with the council 
during Covid-19 could now start to return to their business-as-usual work, 
transition to other purposes, or disband. The Hub would support groups that 
decided to transition to other purposes post Covid-19. To this purpose the 
work of the Hub in creating a list of volunteer groups had given the council a 
great opportunity to engage further with voluntary and community groups in 
future. The Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer told the 
committee of a planned community forum which would be key to developing 
an ecosystem of connected organisations and community groups that could 
partner together, learn and cooperate with each other.  
 
The Chair and members thanked officers of the council. Members were 
amazed at the community’s positive response to the crisis. Concern was 
raised regarding the closure of community rooms within Council properties, 
particularly in one facility where the Post Office operated out of the community 
room. Such closures may leave vulnerable residents unable to access key 
Post Office counter services such as local banking. The Assistant Chief 
Executive informed the committee that there had been no reports of residents 
being unable to access food or services due to being unable to withdraw cash, 
and that if any specific issues arose, the Hub would be able to help any 
resident facing difficulty by utilizing the facility set up for such instances with 
Evergreen Care Trust and BHive.  
 
Members discussed the difficulties around helping socially isolated residents 
during the pandemic and that many residents would lack the technical ability 
to access virtual meetings. Members asked what support could be provided to 
these individuals and were told that BHive and Evergreen would take over in 
the transition responsibility for offering the befriending service to these 
individuals. Once it was safe to do so, there would be a need to help transition 
the isolated back into in-person social interactions. It was noted that social 
isolation and loneliness could be more prevalent now than before lockdown, 
with those previously unaffected finding themselves more isolated.  
 
Members were informed that plans continued to develop a ‘chat café’ in 
Grantham. The idea for the chat café had originally been developed as a 
support mechanism for residents whose first language was not English.  The 
council was working with a local faith group to develop this proposal further to 
incorporate the needs of people experiencing isolation and loneliness and to 
promote mental wellbeing in communities.  
 
Some residents would continue to need assistance from the Hub even as 
restrictions eased, and there was a need to identify those in need and develop 
systems of working going forward. Members were concerned for those 
residents who lacked technical knowledge, and there was a discussion of the 
work of community groups who aimed to increase this knowledge and 
confidence. The Cabinet Member for Communities spoke about the 
intelligence that had been gathered by the Hub during Covid-19 and spoke of 

8



 
 

the opportunities that this presented to the committee to guide and support the 
community going forward. She asked the committee to approve the 
recommendations within the report to allow staff to transition to their primary 
roles and to gather more intelligence from committee members that would 
help shape the Council’s work going forward.  
 
ACTIONS 
 
Members of the committee to participate in a workshop to explore future 
working with the voluntary and community sector. 
 
That Cabinet approves the transition of the inbound call handling 
element of the SK Community Hub to the Customer Service Centre. 
 

55. 2020/21 Committee Work Programme 
 
The committee noted and agreed the work programme, and requested the 
following items be added: 
 
10 September 2020: 

- Verbal update on work to support local businesses through Covid-19 
- Garden Maintenance scheme 2020/21 

Meeting to be confirmed: 
- Update on progress of Stop the Knock, following approval by Cabinet 

and implementation 
- Site allocations for the travelling community 

 
56. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
The Chair raised the issue of the change of Grantham Hospital’s remit to a 
Covid-19 Urgent Treatment Centre. He informed the committee that this issue 
would be raised at an upcoming meeting of Extraordinary Council for debate. 
He spoke of the importance of Grantham A&E (Accident and Emergency) and 
noted that it had been closed overnight for 4 years on a temporary basis. It 
was questioned if the maternity wing could have been used as the Urgent 
Treatment Centre at an earlier meeting of Lincolnshire County Council’s 
Health Scrutiny Committee. Members shared their concerns of their dwindling 
hopes for a return of an A&E Department at Grantham Hospital. Members 
expressed their ongoing support for the essential provision that Grantham 
Hospital provided and re-iterated the need to keep campaigning to re-open the 
A&E department.  
 

57. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 15:25. 
 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

10 September 2020 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 

  Cabinet Member for Communities 

         
  

 

Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2020 

The Council is required, under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 to publish information on an 
annual basis showing its compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty. This report therefore 
presents the Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2020. 

 

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
 01476 406 161 

  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead 13 August 2019 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

28 August 2019 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

28 August 2019 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee review and comment on the appended Equality and Diversity Annual 
Position Statement and note its content prior to its approval for publication. 

 

11

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 imposes a duty on public sector organisations when 

exercising public functions to have due regard to: 

•    Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

• Advance opportunities for people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who don’t share it 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who don’t share it 

1.2 These are known as the three aims of the Equality Duty. 

1.3 Two further specific duties are placed on public sector organisations, which are to: 

• Publish information to show compliance with the Equality Duty, at least annually, 

and  

• Set and publish equality objectives, at least every four years. 

1.4 The publication must include information to show that we have consciously thought about 

the three aims of the Equality Duty and it must also include information relating to employees 

who share protected characteristics (for public bodies with 150 or more employees) and 

information relating to people who are affected by the public body’s policies and practices 

who share protected characteristics (e.g. service users, tenants etc). 

1.5 The purpose of the Annual Position Statement is, therefore, to provide an overview of how 

this Council has complied with the three aims of the Duty during 2019/20.   

1.6 The Annual Position Statement is for publication to the general public for information 

purposes. 

1.7 The law does not prescribe a required format for this document. Organisations can present 

information in any way they choose. They can also determine content beyond that listed 

above. 

1.8 This Council’s Annual Position Statement provides the required, retrospective information 

plus background to its vision and priorities, values and behaviours and the good practice of 

our partners and across our services to show that due regard is integral to our interactions 

and delivery.  

1.9 The 2020 Annual Position Statement includes the Council’s latest Equality Objectives which 

cover the period 2020-2024. An action plan has been developed to ensure the Authority 

delivers the required outcomes of these objectives. Service areas from across the Authority 

will be required to feed in and help deliver on our objectives going forward.     

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Feedback from Members of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

is welcomed and will be shared with the Cabinet Member for Communities. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 These are set out in the report. 

 

12



 

 
 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This is set out in the report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation 

5.1 To inform Members of action taken to ensure we comply with the law on equality and to 

assure Members of this Council’s commitment to the equitability of its services and their 

delivery. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following feedback from the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 

Cabinet Member for Communities will be asked to approve the Equality and Diversity Annual 

Position Statement 2020 for publication to the Council’s website. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The public sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) came into force in 

2011. The Equality Duty applies to public bodies and others carrying out public functions. It 

supports good decision-making by ensuring public bodies consider how different people will 

be affected by their activities, helping them to deliver policies and services which are 

accessible to all and which meet different peoples’ needs. 

8.2 The Equality Duty is supported by specific duties, set out in regulations. The specific duties 

require public bodies to publish relevant, proportionate information demonstrating their 

compliance with the Equality Duty and to set themselves specific, measurable equality 

objectives. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Equality impact is identified through the production of this document. In producing this 

document we are also able to identify potential areas of under representation in our 

workforce and highlight good practice. The Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 

aims to improve awareness of equality responsibilities and further embed those 

responsibilities within our working practices.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risks relating to this report have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable. 

 

13



 

 
 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A: Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2020. 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

12 September 2019 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

14



1 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality and Diversity 

Annual Position Statement 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

15

Appendix A



2 

 

 
 
 
Contents 
 

Introduction        3 

Equality Act 2010       3 

Our Values and Behaviours      4  

Service Delivery        5 

Training and Development      5 

Our Equality Objectives      6 

Moving Forward        6 

Gender Pay Gap        7 

Equal Access for all       8 - 10 

Inclusivity of our Partners      11 - 13 

Our District         14 

Our Communities       14 

Our Tenants        15 - 19 

Demographics of South Kesteven     20 

Ethnicity in South Kesteven      21  

Our Workforce        22 - 24 

Alternative Formats and Languages Information   25 

 

 

 

 

16



3 

 

Introduction 
 
This statement provides a retrospective overview of 2019/20 in relation to Equality in South 
Kesteven. 

This Council promotes equality of opportunity in all of its functions.  

Our commitment to equalities is about long-term, continuous improvement.  It is the responsibility 

of all officers and elected Members to implement the principles of equality and diversity. We aim 

to ensure that these principles inform decision-making at every level within the Council reflecting 

our ongoing commitment to the elimination of unfair discrimination, the advancement of equality 

of opportunity for all and to foster good relations between different communities.  

We continue to work towards mainstreaming issues of equality and diversity into service delivery, 

employment and procurement for all aspects of our work. We are committed to providing equal 

access to services and employment for all people living, working and visiting the district. 

 
This document provides general information relating to how we work in South Kesteven and 
provides a retrospective in terms of the make-up of the people who live and work within the district 
and gives highlights of our activity which supports equality of access to the services we provide.  

The Equality Act  
 
As a local authority the Council has a responsibility to meet the Equality Duty which is set by law 

as part of the Equality Act 2010. The duty gives protection for all persons who might be 

discriminated against because of their age, race, sex, gender reassignment, disability, sexual 

orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity and marriage and civil partnership. 

The duty requires us have due regard to the need to:  

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not  

 
The specific duties placed on public bodies are to: 

• Publish information to show our compliance with the Equality Duty – including information 

relating to employees who share protected characteristics and information relating to our 

service users 

• Set and publish equality objectives, at least every four years 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

17



4 

 

Our Values and Behaviours 
 
Our Corporate Strategy – We are SK - defines the values and behaviours expected of our staff 
stating that: 

The key values and behaviours that will determine our success are; accountability, flexibility, 
agility, equity, networking, ‘always learning’ and talent. These will not just be words; they are 
going to be incorporated into our job descriptions, our recruitment processes and staff 
development. 

Accountability:  In order to succeed we will need a culture of accountability throughout SKDC. 
Everyone at every level will need to be responsible for what they do; willing to take ownership for 
their actions and decisions and being a reliable, dependable member of the team, often going 
beyond the normal terms of employment.  We cannot work flexibly without accountability. 

Flexibility:  We can’t be set in our ways if we are going to succeed, so flexibility matters.  It might 
be flexibility in terms of the hours you do, the way you work or where you work.  We can’t afford 
to do things the same way just because “that’s the way it’s always been done”.  Our performance 
will be measured in outcomes and those outcomes will contribute to achieving our strategy. 

Agility: Related to flexibility is agility. SKDC’s needs are going to change over time and we need 
people who can respond to those changes, who can move freely between teams and who want 
to stretch themselves by being trained to be better at more things. 

Equity: Every member of the SKDC team matters, irrespective of their rank or position.  This 
hasn’t always been the case in the past, but it will be in the future.  All of us should expect to be 
treated with respect and dignity and doors should be open.  We will all be held to account for this. 

Networking:  We learn from each other and from external partners, so we need to be better at 
networking.  Our networks hold the key to raising our profile, improving our performance, 
discovering better ideas and developing ourselves 

Learning:  We are constantly learning from everything we do, regardless of success or failure.  
When we do something well, that knowledge can help us repeat and refine what we do in the 
future.  We clearly won’t seek failure, but neither will we be frightened of it.  And, if we fail, we will 
learn from it and not seek to just apportion blame. 

Talent:  Having a diverse and talented team is fundamental to our success.  However, a person’s 
real talent isn’t always obvious:  sometimes it’s overlooked; other times it may be hidden or 
ignored.  Sometimes it’s a talent the person didn’t realise they had.  Harnessing talent will be 
everyone’s job, not just HR or senior managers. 

  

18



5 

 

Service Delivery 
 
The Equality Duty requires public bodies to consider how the decisions they make and the 
services they deliver affect people who share different protected characteristics.  We have a 
process for analysis of equality impact for all our policies and procedures.  This form of analysis 
replaced the traditional equality impact assessments that have been undertaken for many years.  
Analysis begins prior to the introduction of, or change to, any policy or procedure.  Officers assess 
at this very early stage the impact our decisions will have on the people we serve.  We look for 
both positive and potential negative outcomes relating to the introduction of policies.  If positives 
are found, we look at how we might extend those impacts across the protected characteristics.  If 
negatives are highlighted, we look to remove them if possible and mitigate their impact if they 
remain.  We recognise that the impact our policies and procedures have on people is not always 
defined because of a single protected characteristic.  The need to look at a person as a whole, 
rather than component parts, is imperative when applying fairness to systems and decision 
making. Equality Analyses are taken into account throughout our overview, decision making and 
scrutiny processes by our Members to ensure that their decisions are fair and equitable for the 
diverse communities they have been elected to serve.   

As a provider of services, we make sure that the information we produce is clear, understandable 
and accessible.  We treat people with respect at all times ensuring that we are aware of, and 
acknowledge, their human rights. 

 
Training and Development  
 
Awareness training is mandatory for all staff and new starters and covers our responsibilities in 
relation to the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty.  Topics covered include an 
overview of discrimination covering: 

• Direct discrimination 

• Indirect discrimination 

• Discrimination by association 

• Perception discrimination 

• Harassment 

• Victimisation 

The training also highlights how stereotyping and labelling impact on how people interact with one 
another on both a personal and professional level.  Officers are informed of the need to complete 
equality analysis on all new and updated policy, procedure or function and that the process should 
be started as early as possible in the process of developing or reviewing and should continue 
throughout the process to ensure that all possible barriers to equal access are mitigated or 
removed completely. 

Our elected Members and officers within our management team have also have access to in 
house training which focuses on the decision-making process within the Council.  The training 
stresses the need for equality analysis to be provided with every applicable report to ensure that 
elected Members have access to all relevant information at the time a decision is made. Following 
elections our Members are provided with training relating to Knowing Your Community which 
raises their awareness of the demographic of the District.  Each Member is supplied with a profile 
of their electoral ward and comparative data for a district-wide insight. 

 

19



6 

 

Our Equality Objectives 2020-2024 

 
 

 
 
Moving Forward 

We have introduced a new set of equality objectives for 2020 – 2024 (see above).  These 
objectives are generic but are supported by an action plan requiring the achievement of specific 
outcomes with input from service areas across the Authority.  
 
Our new Corporate Plan will be published in 2020/21.  This document sets out our vision for the 
future, at the heart of which is equitable service for all and our commitment to equality of 
opportunity. 
 

Objective How will we achieve this? 

1. Strengthen our knowledge and 

understanding of our communities. 

 

Ensure that the Council’s services are responsive to 

different needs and treat service users equitably, 

with dignity and respect. 

Listen, involve and respond to our communities 

effectively. 

Build a database of voluntary and community groups 

that serve our communities at grass roots level and 

work with them to ensure sustainability of provision 

and service. 

Build a culture of equality and inclusion 

into all the services, functions and projects 

we deliver. 

Incorporate the need to assess and address equality 

issues into the Council’s project methodology and 

democratic processes to ensure consideration of the 

needs of our customers is at the heart of what we do 

from the earliest stage of development through to 

decision making and implementation. 

Prove our ongoing commitment to equal 

opportunity by developing a diverse and 

empowered workforce and by reducing 

our gender pay gap.  

Utilise workforce data to help identify areas for 

improvement in the diversity and skills of our 

workforce to seek equality of representation at all 

levels across the organisation. 

 

Develop and deliver against an action plan to 

specifically address the Council’s gender pay gap, to 

form part of the work programme of the Employment 

Committee. 

Demonstrate a positive culture with strong 

leadership and organisational commitment to 

improving equality outcomes. 

20



7 

 

 
Gender Pay Gap 

 
Under the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017, the Council is 
required by law to publish an annual gender pay gap report.  This information is published one 
year retrospectively. It’s 2019 report showed: 

      2017  2018  2019 

• Our mean gender pay gap  3.7%  6.2%      4.4% 

• Our median gender pay gap 20%  11.7%    9.9% 

The gender balance of the Council’s workforce in 2019/20 showed a split of 52.49% male to 
47.51% female which is almost consistent with figures for 2018/19 (53% M – 47% F).  The greatest 
proportion (57.37%) of new starters within this year were women.  

The Authority’s median gender pay gap shows a year on year reduction and its mean pay gap 
which showed a significant increase last year has showed an almost 2% reduction when figures 
were published in March.  

The Council acknowledges, however, the need to look beyond the data to identify the issues, 
influences and practices that determine its gender pay gap. Our Gender Pay Gap Action Plan 
was developed to address any imbalance and to help enhance our attraction within the 
employment market, promoting our commitment to flexible working and opening up opportunities 
to those who might previously have not considered a career in local government.  The plan, which 
contains actions that will help to keep and develop the dedicated workforce, is led by SKDC’s 
Head of Organisational Development and Change and performance monitored by the Council’s 
Employment Committee.  

21



8 

 

 

Equal Access for All 
We are keen to show that we consider the needs of our residents when providing both statutory 
and discretionary services. The following examples are a snapshot of our commitment to having 
due regard for equality not only through analysis of the impact of new and updated policies but 
throughout all levels of service delivery and facilitation.  

 
Communicating with our Customers 

 
 

 

Customer Support 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supporting our Customers 

Access and Adaptation 

Our Building Control team ensures through 
inspections that bathroom adaptations, 
ramps, lifts etc comply with legislation 
relating to access needs of people with 
disabilities.  

The team also advises on building access to 
ensure equitable standards for all. 

Support for the 
vulnerable 

We have signed up to the 
county hoarding protocol 

to support people with 
hoarding issues and 

ensure all agencies are 
working together to 
provide appropriate 

support.   

Customer Interactions 

All staff have access to Language Line for instant 
translation services if no face-to-face interpreter is 
present.  

Our Customer Service Centre has a multi-lingual 
advisor to assist with interpretation. 

Staff and customers have access to Text Relay to 
assist with calls to and from the Authority by 
people with hearing impairment.  

Use of videos with icon visuals in Customer 
Service Centre to clearly explain our services - 
e.g. how council tax money is spent in the district, 
The Big Clean. 

Face-to-face appointments are available to help 
complete EU settlement documentation for non-
EU nationals 

Face-to-face support is also available to help 
vulnerable customer use online applications – e.g. 
housing.  

Street Scene 

We provide easy read, pictorial, waste 
information leaflets for those who have difficultly 
reading, have a learning disability and for those 
whose first language is not English. 

Translations and Alternative Formats 

We provide any document in an alternative format on 
request.  We translate into other languages, provide 
documents in large print or Braille and also provide 
information in audio format.  We work with South 
Lincolnshire Blind Society to ensure residents with 
visual impairment have appropriately transcribed copies 
of our district magazine SK Today and we routinely 
provide translated information to food businesses – e.g. 
our Food Management Pack.  

Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG) 

The Council has a statutory 
responsibility to provide means 
tested DFGs to adapt the 
homes of disabled people. 
Discretionary top-up payments 
may be made for works which 
exceed the mandatory grant 
limit. 

 

Assisted Bin Collections 

We help if people cannot move their wheelie bin or waste bags to the roadside 
edge for collection if they have a physical disability or injury.  We also help if 
people have other medical difficulties or conditions which make it difficult for 
them to put their rubbish out.  This includes those who need help for short 
periods of time following an accident or operation or during pregnancy. 

22



9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Discretionary Grants 

The Council has extended its range of 
discretionary grants.  These now include: 
hospital discharge grants (people who need 
works to their home and can’t return home until 
they are done), safe warm and well, grants for 
heating works and other works on the 
condition of a property effects the persons 
health and they are over 65 or have a relevant 
medical condition and dementia aids and 
adaptations, small aids or work which make 
the home safe for anyone with a dementia 
diagnosis. 

Sheltered Housing Common Rooms 

We provide and maintain common rooms at our sheltered housing 
schemes to enable residents who might find difficulty in accessing 
other opportunities to socialize. 

We also make the facilities available to community groups to provide 
support or leisure opportunities to residents of the scheme and other 
local people.  Some of the groups using our facilities are specific to 
residents with disabilities such as a group for visually impaired 
people and a support group for people with dementia and their 
families. 

 Tenancy Support Service 

As a housing provider we recognise that 
some of our more vulnerable tenants will 
require support to sustain their tenancies. 
This is wide ranging support from navigating 
welfare benefits and maintaining rent 
payments to ensuring the condition of 
properties. Support is provided directly as 
well as sign-posted to other appropriate 
organisations. This service has provided 
support to hundreds of tenants to empower 
individuals and ensure sustainable tenancies. 

Assisted Garden Scheme 

We recognize that some of our 
tenants cannot maintain their 
gardens due to disability or frailty.  
Where the tenant has no relatives 
who can help, we provide a 
garden assistance scheme.  

Several hundred tenants have 
their gardens maintained through 
the scheme which allows them to 
continue to live independent lives 
within the community they call 
home. 

Scheme Alarm Systems 

Our 30 sheltered schemes all 
have alarm facilities to benefit the 
residents.  These can be used to 
summon help at any time.   

Where needed the alarm systems 
are also linked to the main doors 
of the scheme so residents who 
are unable to leave their flat can 
let visitors in. 

23



10 

 

 

Supporting our Communities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Foodbank 

We have introduced a ring-fenced funding pot 
to support the work of the four Foodbanks in 
our District that work to ensure some of the 
most vulnerable in our communities have 
access to food and essential supplies. 

Free ESOL Classes 

In collaboration with Jubilee Church Life 
Centre the Council was able to support the 
provision of conversational English classes 
and accompanying creche for the migrant 
communities of Grantham.  The project, 
delivered by staff and volunteers from Jubilee 
had participants representing 38 different 
nationalities and fostered good relations 
between communities, advanced 
opportunities for participants and helped 
promote integration. 

Safeguarding 

Our community-facing teams work 
closely with our colleagues in 
Children’s Services, Adult Social 
Care, P3, Mental Health Services, 
Domestic Abuse Services, Fire 
and Rescue and Lincolnshire 
Police to ensure we safeguard the 
most vulnerable people in our 
District.  

Community Contact 

Officers assist local community groups, 
volunteers and faith groups by signposting 
them to services, training and funding 
opportunities and support networks.  Often 
groups need help when they are starting 
out and we are able to put them in touch 
with other groups providing similar activities 
and services.  This promotes helps to foster 
good relations between people from 
different protected characteristics. 

Health and Wellbeing 

Through our Community Fund we have 
supported projects run by a Mental Health 

Charity in the District to provide Mental 
Health Awareness Training to local 

businesses. 

Community Spaces 

We have provided funding in support of three 
community gardens and a commemorative 

orchard that bring people together from 
different backgrounds, cultures and abilities to 

promote mental health and wellbeing. 

Levelling the Playing Field 

We have supported projects in our 
communities that make sport and physical 

activity accessible to all. 

Arts Participation 

We have supported community arts 
participation projects that have fostered good 

relations between people from differing 
protected characteristics including the 

development of a reminiscence film and the 
creation and performance of a Makaton flash-

mob as part of the council’s Bridge project. 

A Guiding Hand 

We helped to fund a project to train volunteer 
and family guides to support people with 

visual impairment within our communities. 

24



11 

 

Inclusivity Activity of our Partners  
(information provided by 1 Life, contracted operators for the four leisure centres in South Kesteven) 

 
PARTICIPATON IN PHYSICAL AND ARTS ACTIVITIES PARTICULARLY IN LOCALLY 
UNDER-REPRESENTED GROUPS  
 
Older People 

 
Health Walks take place at Bourne and Deepings, Bourne had 114 users attend the Friday 
walk with an average of 5 per week. Deepings had 2 walks per week with 480 people attending 
in the reporting period. 

 
Active Life programmes are held at Grantham and are designed to encourage participation with 
a mixture of swimming, wet and dry classes and activities. Grantham had 584 attendees, with 
an average weekly attendance of 34.  Stamford also continued to run its active life aqua 
sessions with an average participation of 25 per session. These sessions really thrive with a 
community feel and all participants comment on the enjoyment and value of the sessions.   

 
‘No Strings Badminton’ continued to take place each week at Grantham with 3 sessions due 
to the demand. This programme is free of charge for gym members with a view to encouraging 
sport participation. A total throughput of 678 participants for the period was achieved, with an 
average weekly attendance of 40. 

 
Breathe Easy Class. The Grantham class averaged around 10 attendees each week. Over the 
reporting period there were 53 participants.  
 
Adult Swimming Lessons. Deepings has 27 participants enrolled and the Swim Fit sessions 
continued with an average of 14 attending per week. Stamford Swim Fit sessions regularly 
achieved attendance of around 10 participants with the lessons really making an impact on 
those taking part. Adult swimming lessons achieved a regular attendance of over 15 enrolled. 
Grantham had 44 adults enrolled and the Friday ladies only class is popular with 11 attendees 
booked into this session each week.  

  
U3A (University of the Third Age) New Age Curling continued in Grantham with numbers 
continuing to hold at 15 per session this equates to circa 255 users for the reporting period. 

 
Walking Football has continued to be a real success at Grantham throughout the period with it 
moving to the outdoor pitches for the summer period. During the reporting period there were 227 
attendees, an average of 14 attendees per week.  

 
Walking Netball - Walking Netball at Deepings averaged 12 participants per week. Bourne’s 
Walking Netball started November with sessions being run by the Women’s Institute. 1 Life’s in-
house coach has worked with this group to improve confidence and skill. Working in this 
collaborative way also allows us to run tandem sessions.  

 
Vitality – 16 classes per week took place during this period, with an average weekly attendance 
of 169 members. New classes were added at Grantham Guildhall during this period. New 
classes in Bourne and Stamford were due to launch in early 2020. Promotion of these was 
carried out with assistance from Lincolnshire Co-op which coordinates the Walking for Health 
scheme across the county as this is the ideal target audience for the classes. The classes have 
also been promoted through Public Health England, local GP surgeries, health and wellbeing 
networks and within the local community.   

 
 

25



12 

 

People with Physical and Mental Disabilities 
 

The twice weekly disabled fitness classes at Bourne Leisure continue to work in partnership 
with Heritage Care, Blackthorn Court and Bourne to Care. The fitness classes are circuit based 
and were regularly attended by 10-12 users. Over this period the classes were attended by a 
cumulative total of 524 participants. 
 
Heritage Care manages supported living services across South Lincolnshire, ensuring that 
people with disabilities and challenging needs can rely on 24-hour support. Activities held at 
Grantham Meres include swimming, arts and crafts, board games and multi sports activities with 
an average session attendance of 23 per day for the Tuesday and Thursday sessions.  This 
equates to a cumulative participant total of 782 over the period. 

Swimming lessons for the deaf – Stamford. In partnership with the Peterborough and District 
Deaf Children’s Society, these lessons continued during the period.  The sessions were attended 
by 17 participants with an integrated group of hearing-impaired children and their siblings aged 
between 3-14. A small number of children that dip in and out of lessons due to health or family 
circumstances causes the weekly attendance to fluctuate at an average between 10 to 20 
attendees on a regular basis. 

Rehabilitation Classes. The three rehabilitation classes at Grantham attracted participants with 
more diverse levels of disability including stroke victims, spinal cord injuries and mental health 
issues. A total of with 40 attendees took part during the reporting period.  

 
A special needs swim group at Deepings on a Saturday went from strength to strength during 
the period. The group had been at capacity with 7 participants per week, and a waiting list was in 
place. In order to meet demand a second session has been put in place to enable a further 8 
swimmers to participate 
 
SUPPORT PROGRAMMES THAT ADDRESS OBESITY, PARTICULARLY IN YOUNG 
PEOPLE 
  
Junior Gym Sessions and a Junior Membership - There were 33 young people enrolled on 
this membership scheme. Junior gym ran at Deepings twice a week with an average of 2 
participants per session. Although figures were disappointing the need to continue to provide this 
service is acknowledged and increased promotion is underway. Stamford is reviewing its sessions 
with a view to re-launching based upon instructor availability and also linking in with Aqua-bikes 
and/or Hydro Fighter sessions. 

 
Children’s Holiday Camps. Grantham’s OFSTED registered sessions in partnership with Fit for 
Sport ran in the August summer holiday with an average attendance of 15.58 per day. Activity 
Camps for the summer totalled 284 children in attendance (average 12 a day). The October 
sessions totalled 44 (average 9 a day).  Summer activities were launched at the Bourne site in 
July. The Activity Camp averaged 5 per day with one leader in place.  

 
Gym School continued to operate from Grantham with an average of 109 children attending per 
week with a break during the summer period. Going forward Grantham will primarily coach and 
provide the ‘early years’ gymnastics classes as its niche. Three of the site’s coaches have 
attended Activity Leadership training provided by British Gymnastics. As a result there are now 
more qualified coaches to support the programme. Jump into Gymnastics was launched this year 
with 16 attending the taster session and 8 booked into the current programme. There were two 
fully booked gymnastics classes per week at Deepings, with 32 children in attendance.  

26



13 

 

School Swimming Aqua-Splash. This activity took place in July 2019. Eighty children from 2 
schools were able to participate. The structure was similar to previous years with activities 
including water safety, Rookie lifeguard, water polo and a fun session. 

 
Swim School: Swim School numbers across the all four leisure centres remain stable at 3,800 
peaking at 3,900 in October with the new school intake.  

 
Swim School Scholarships: 6 of our recent school-based Swim Scholarships enrolled 
permanently onto our lesson programme after enjoying their 10 week placements. The 
scholarships are offered to local schools with the individual being selected by the school based 
on a variety of agreed criteria with the school swimming team. 

 
Crash Courses, Swim School Aqua-Splash and Distance Sessions. All of these sessions 
continue to take place across all four sites. During the reporting period a total of 72 swimmers 
completed our crash course programmes at Grantham which included snorkelling and 
synchronised swimming as well as the lessons focusing on stroke development. Grantham’s 
distance nights continue to be fully booked with over 50 children attending the September session 
and positive feedback received from parents. The next session will take place in January. 

 
Bourne offered a variety of crash courses with 20 children attending and have also offered a 
variety of stroke clinics and distance events with 66 children attending. Deepings held crash 
courses in all school holidays with 40 children in attendance through the summer and October 
holidays. Stamford delivered crash courses to 35 children across the same period. 

  
EXERCISE REFERRAL AND/OR ARTS ON PRESCRIPTION PROGRAMMES 
 
Stamford’s GP referral scheme continued under the supervision of freelance GP referral 
consultant and saw 7 new participants join the course with 2 retained as members after their 12 
weeks. Deepings had a really positive 6 months with the number of active GP referral clients 
increasing and participants achieving great results too. 15 new participants enrolled onto the 
scheme from July-November. Grantham continued to host a weekly Breathe Easy (COPD) 
session attended by an average of 10 participants. The sessions follow a format set by the 
British Lung Foundation by which candidates are referred by Physiotherapists and GPs for help 
with a variety of lung conditions including Asthma etc. Bourne’s GP referral scheme and 
COPD sessions have been increasing steadily in demand. With numbers regularly achieving 6-8 
each week.  

 
  

27



14 

 

Profile of the District of South Kesteven 
 
Our District 
 
The district of South Kesteven is one of seven within the county of Lincolnshire and borders North 
Kesteven to the north, South Holland in the east, the unitary authorities of Rutland and 
Peterborough to the south and the counties of Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire to the west. 
 
The district covers 943 square kilometres (365sq miles) with the administrative centre in 
Grantham and three further market towns of Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping. Two-thirds 
of the population lives in one of the four market towns and the remaining third live in one of over 
80 villages in the area. The approximate number of domestic dwellings in South Kesteven is 
63,030 with Grantham being the largest urban settlement. The district is divided up into 77 
parishes. The district has 30 Wards, represented by 56 Councillors. 
 
Our Communities 
 
In South Kesteven there are 151 people per square kilometre, this compares with an overall 
Lincolnshire average of 128 people per square kilometre. The Office for National Statistics mid-
year estimate of population 2019 states a population of 142,424 which shows an estimated 
increase in population of 8,636 since the census taken in 2011 and an increase of 17,547 since 
the 2001 Census. Figures released by the NHS relating to GP registrations however show the 
significantly higher figure of 173,685 which is a huge disparity in information. The overall 
population size is currently projected to increase to 161,400 by the year 2041, through a potential 
net increase in international and internal migration as well as usual population growth.  
 
Mapping and local intelligence within the district shows significant increases in Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic (BAME) communities with the greatest concentration of diversity located in the 
north of the district, specifically Grantham.  
 
The greatest number of people from any one country from outside the UK that have made their 
home in South Kesteven are from Poland but we also have pockets of small communities, 
sometimes individual families, who need our services, help and advice and are unable to speak, 
read or write in English.  Translation and interpreter requests are taken on demand and can often 
be for the benefit only of an individual.  Some communities isolate themselves but are known to 
request help and support in setting up English lessons for their community alone, but this does 
not engender integration, promote cohesion or lessen the isolation felt by some, particularly 
women. Many of the families living here have limited resources; working in low paid jobs even 
though they are qualified to carry out a skilled role in their home country. This can simply be 
because they don’t have the language, cultural and interview skills to seek better employment. 
The impact of limited, or no, English language skills goes far further than simply being resource 
based. 

Statistical information available between the taking of a national Census is limited when seeking 
an insight into population change, particularly in relation to changes within BAME communities.   
During 2019/20 SKDC was awarded a grant through the Controlling Migration Fund to work in 
partnership with the Jubilee Church Life Centre in Grantham to increase the number of English 
Language provided by retired, volunteer tutors at the centre.  This collaboration resulted in a 
cumulative participation of 3571 learners representing 38 different nationalities (for full list see 
page 19) and an increase in volunteers – not just teachers but also from within the learners who 
felt able to seek out volunteering opportunities to further improve their language skills.  This 
project, and others like it across our District provide local intelligence on population and migration 
trends that is invaluable to the work we do to meet the Equality Duty.   
 

28



15 

 

According to the Office for National Statistics internal migration figures, the internal migration 
inflow for South Kesteven was 7,723. This is countered by an outflow of 7,121 individuals leaving 
the District with a net migration of 602 for the time period. This is an increase of 45 (+8%) since 
these figures were last reported in this document. International migration saw an inflow of 454 
and an outflow of 342 leaving a net figure of 112 for the same period. This represents a decrease 
in people leaving the area of 349 from the same time period last year. The 2019 Mid-Year 
Estimate shows that there are 42,387 people aged 60 and above resident in South Kesteven 
which equates to 30% of the total population of the district. The proportion of people aged 75 and 
over is projected to increase significantly by 2035 according to POPPI. The current number of 
people aged 75+ in the District is estimated to be 14,802 which is projected to increase by 68% 
to 24,800 by 2035. 
 

Our Tenants  
Age and gender data sets are based on rent information. The remaining data is based on 
tenant census and core returns completed by tenants on signing up to new tenancy. We hold 
demographic data on approximately 84% of our tenants based on the number completing their 
census returns. 
 
Total number of tenants listed 1/7/20: 6546 (which is 31 fewer than in July 2019) 

  

 

 

 

 

8

505

1028 1052
1160

1073

968

715

37

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

16 to 19 20 to 29 30 to 39 40 to 49 50 to 59 60 to 69 70 to 79 80+ unknown

Age Profile

4235, 65%

2311, 35%

Gender

Female Male

29



16 

 

 

 

38% of our tenants tells us they consider themselves to have a long-term health issue or disability.  
83% of these define their issue as either physical, frail, heart problems or mental health.  10% 
also tell us they have learning difficulties, difficulties with reading and writing or are dyslexic. 5% 
have sensory issues and 4% live with conditions such as cancer, ME, MS and HIV. 

  

2475, 38%

4071, 62%

Disability

Yes No

83

367

77

718

1
86

10

339

9

605

8 4 40 15
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

Type of Disability

30



17 

 

 

BAME is defined as: 
Arab   Black Caribbean Gypsy/Roma  Mixed Caribbean 
Asian British  Black Other  Indian   Traveller of Irish Descent 
Asian Other  Chinese  Mixed Other  White Irish 
Black African  Eastern European Mixed Asian  White Other 
Black British  Eastern Other  Mixed African 

 

Nationalities represented within the figure for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) figure 
include:  

Bulgarian  Greek    Lithuanian   Slovakian 

Chinese  Hungarian    Maltese   South African 

Estonian  Indian    Polish    Syrian 

Filipino   Irish    Portuguese   Thai 
French   Italian    Romanian   Turkish 
German  Latvian    Russian   Ukrainian 

 

The three nationalities with the largest representation amongst our tenants are Polish, Lithuanian 

and Portuguese. 

 

5598

468 480

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

White British BAME Unknown

Ethnicity

5121

1069

356

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

British Unknown BAME

Nationality

31



18 

 

            

   

Other religions or belief systems represented here include: 

Buddhist   Jedi    Sikhism 

Hinduism   Judaism   Spiritualism 

Islam    Pagan  

 

    

34% of tenants do not specify their sexuality or prefer not to say. Government and 

Stonewall statistics state the LGB population in Britain is approximately 5-8%, so we 

should expect that to be reflected in our tenants. Unspecified means tenants did not 

provide an answer to the question.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3138

72

1619

611

1106

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Christian Other No Religion Prefer not to say Not specified

Religion or Belief

4301

939

28 6 11

1261

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

Heterosexual Prefer not to say Bisexual Gay Lesbian Not specfied

Sexuality

32



19 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Most tenants still prefer us to contact them in writing.  Those that are happy to be contacted by 
other means also often request a written follow-up confirmation.  Although we have email 
addresses for 43% of our tenants only 214 have told us this is their preferred means of contact.  
Similarly, although the majority of our tenants have provided phone numbers, they have not stated 
this as their preferred means of communication.  Text messaging is used by our repairs team, 
when mobile phone details are recorded and permission given, to let tenants know when an 
operative is on the way to carry out agreed work.  Those who have not stated a preferred method 
of communication with the Council’s Housing service are contacted by letter.  In contrast, contact 
online, by phone or email from tenants to Housing is significantly greater although we do not 
collect this data as part of our demographics. 
 

 
  

95% of our tenants have not stated any specific needs. 5% of tenants state that they require large 
print and we now write to all tenants in 14pt font. We have received no requests to enlarge to A3 
size.  Requests for information in alternative format such as audio or braille or in a language other 
than English are provided on request. 

 

214
423

3693

675

31 2

1508

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Email Home Phone Letter Mobile Text Work Phone Unknown

Preferred means of communication

14
1

293

14

0.0%

5.0%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Audio Sign Language Large Print Translated

Communication Needs

33



20 

 

 
 
 
 
Demographics of South Kesteven  
 

 
 

 

  

Marital Status 
Source: ONS (Census 2011)  

Single 28,454 

Married 58,460 

Same sex civil partnership 128 

Separated 
(still legally married or in a same sex civil 
partnership) 

3,040 

Divorced 
(or formally in a same sex civil partnership which 
is now legally dissolved) 

10,823 

Widowed 8,180 

People 2018 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2017 

2019 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2018 

2020 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2019 

Total Residents 141,662 141,853 142,424 

Gender:  Male 68,448 68,429 68,790 

Gender: Female 73,214 73,424 73,634 

Age 2018 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2017 

2019 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2018 

2020 
Source: ONS 

Mid-Year 
Estimate 2019 

0 -15 25,854 25,986 26,143 

16-19 6,037 5,934 5,792 

20-29 13,311 12,969 12,606 

30-39 15,663 15,680 15,765 

40-49 19,106 18,635 18,250 

50-59 21,043 21,229 21,481 

60-64 9,028 9,148 9,399 

65-69 9,237 8,999 8,948 

70-74 8,591 9,071 9,238 

75-79 5,687 5,948 6,344 

80-84 4,026 4,166 4,287 

85 + 4,079 4,088 4171 

Number of people aged 16-64 estimated to have a disability 
or dependency 

Source: PANSI subnational population projections 2020 
  2020 

People with a learning disability 1968 

People with impaired mobility 5016 

People with a moderate care physical disability 3588 

People with a serious personal care physical disability 774 

People with a serious visual impairment 53 

People with some hearing loss 9183 

People with a common mental health disorder 15,523 

People with early on-set dementia 43 

People who are alcohol related health issues 3,690 

People who are drug dependent 2,537 

Religion 
Source: ONS (Census 2011) 

Buddhist 277 

Christian 93,192 

Hindu 394 

Jewish 101 

Muslim 358 

Sikh 74 

Other 434 

No Religion 29,665 

Not Stated 9,293 

Top 10 languages 
spoken in South 

Kesteven  
(discounting English) 
Source: Census 2011 

Polish 

Lithuanian 

Portuguese 

Hungarian 

Latvian 

Russian 

Tagalog 

Slovakian 

Chinese 

French 

Sexual Identity 
Source: ONS Annual Population 

Survey 2018 
Heterosexual  94.6% 

Gay/Lesbian 1.4% 

Bi-sexual 0.9% 

Other 0.6% 

Don’t know/refuse 
to say 

2.5% 

34



21 

 

 
 
Ethnicity in South Kesteven 

The Census is the best source of information relating to ethnicity within the District.  

South Kesteven experienced its most significant population changes between the Census of 
2001 and 2011 and the diversity of its residents continues to grow.  At the Census in 2001 the 
non-British population in this area was recorded as less than 1%.  By 2011 this percentage 
representation had risen to 4.5% and according to the 2019 ONS Mid-Year Population Estimate 
it had increased again to around 8.4%. These figures will be corroborated or amended following 
the 2021 Census. Whilst numbers of people from individual nationalities cannot be described as 
high in South Kesteven, the number of different nationalities is significant. 

The Annual Population Survey provides the estimated population resident in the UK by 
nationality.  The figures are provided in blocks so definitive numbers and locations in terms of 
country of birth are outlines only. The Office for National Statistics therefore shows ethnicity 
within South Kesteven as follows: 

EU14 – Estimated total 3,000 
This figure would include residents from: 

Austria, Denmark, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Luxemburg, Netherlands, 
Portugal,  
Republic of Ireland, Spain, Sweden 

EU8 – Estimated total 3,000 
This figure would include residents from: 

Czech Republic, Estonia, Poland, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovakia, Slovenia 

EU2 – Estimated total 2,000 
This figure would include residents from: 

Bulgaria, Romania 

South East Asia – Estimated total 2,000 

This figure could include (but is not restricted to) residents from: 

Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam 

Sub Saharan Africa – Estimated total 2,000 
This figure could include (but is not restricted to) residents from: 

Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Namibia, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Somalia, South Africa, Sudan, 
Tanzania, The Gambia, Zimbabwe 
 

Community Intelligence 

Based on work carried out in the community we have evidence to confirm and extend this list to 
include residents from:  
 

Afghanistan Albania Azerbaijan Bangladesh Brazil Bulgaria 

China Egypt France Germany Ghana Greece 

Honduras Hungary India Indonesia Iraq Italy 

Jamaica Latvia Lithuania Morocco Nepal Nigeria 

Pakistan Philippines Portugal Romania Russia South Africa 

Spain Sri Lanka Syria Taiwan Tibet Turkey 

Vietnam Zimbabwe     

 
 
 

35



22 

 

 
 
 

Our Workforce 
 
During the year 2019/20 there were a total of 644 employees within the Council which is a 
reduction of 38 on 2018/19.  During this year 110 people have ended their employment with the 
Authority which is an increase of 28 on last year, and we had 61 new starters which is a 
decrease of 17.  Disciplinary action has been taken 11 times which is a decrease of 14 on 
2018/19 and 3 grievances have been addressed which is 1 more than last year.  
  

Age All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

<20 0.62% 1.63% 0% 0% 0% 

20-25 8.22% 19.67% 9.09% 33.33% 17.27% 

26-30 7.45% 11.47% 18.18% 0% 9.09% 

31-35 4.81% 8.19% 18.18% 0% 8.18% 

36-40 9.31% 8.19% 0% 0% 8.18% 

41-45 8.38% 9.83% 0% 0% 7.27% 

46-50 12.73% 11.47% 9.09% 33.33% 9.09% 

51-55 16.77% 16.39% 27.27% 0% 6.36% 

56-60 15.06% 9.83% 9.09% 33.33% 12.72% 

61-65 11.18% 3.27% 9.09% 0% 13.63% 

66+ 5.90% 0% 0% 0% 8.18% 

Not stated 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Sex 
All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

Male 52.49% 42.62% 90.90% 33.33% 54.55% 

Female 47.51% 57.37% 9.1% 66.66% 45.45% 

Not stated 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Transgender All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



23 

 

 
 
 
 

Disability All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

Disabled 1.86% 0% 0% 0% 0.90% 

Not Disabled 9.78% 21.31% 0% 0% 4.54% 

Not stated 88.36% 78.69% 100% 100% 94.56% 

Religion or 
Belief 

All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

Christian 5.12% 6.55% 9.09% 0% 5.45% 

Buddhist 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Hindu 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Jewish 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Islam 0.15% 1.63% 0% 0% 0% 

Sikh 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Other 4.03% 4.91% 0% 0% 0.90% 

No Religion 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Prefer not to 
say 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Not Stated 90.7% 86.91% 90.91% 100% 93.65% 

Unknown 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Sexual 
Orientation 

All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances Leavers 

Bisexual 0.93% 1.63% 0% 0% 0% 

Gay 0.93% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Heterosexual 12.26% 19.67% 0% 0% 5.45% 

Lesbian 0.15% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Prefer not to 
say 

0.77% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Not Stated 84.86% 78.7% 100% 100% 94.55% 

Unknown 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

37



24 

 

 
 

Race All 
Employees 

New 
Starters 

Disciplinary 
Action 

Grievances 

 

Leavers 

 
British 

72.67% 16.39% 81.81% 0% 46.36% 

White: British 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

White: Irish 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

White: 
Roma/Gypsy 
(also covers 
Irish) 
Travellers) 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

White: Other 
White 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed: White 
and Black 
Caribbean 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed: White 
and Asian 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed: Other 
Mixed 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian 
British: Indian 

0.15% 1.63% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian 
British: 
Pakistani 

0.15% 1.63% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian 
British: Other 
Asian 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black or Black 
British: 
Caribbean 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black or Black 
British: African 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black or Black 
British: Other 
Black 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Chinese or 
Other Ethnic 
Group: Other 
Ethnic Group 

0.15% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Other Ethnic 
Group: Arab 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Not stated 
26.88% 80.35% 18.19% 100% 53.64% 

Not 
known/provided 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

38



25 

 

 

 

Alternative formats and languages 

To ensure all residents of South Kesteven have access to our information material, 
our information is available in a range of different languages and formats, including 
large print, Braille, audio tape and computer disc. 

To request a document in a specific language or format, you can ring us or email us 
on: 

 01476 40 60 80                                   pr@southkesteven.gov.uk                

This information can be made available in large print, Braille, on audio tape or 
computer disc. If you, or someone you know, might benefit from this service, 
please contact us. 

Polski / Polish 
Informacja ta może być dostępna w języku polskim. Jeżeli Pańswo albo ktoś kogo Państwo znają, może z tej usługi 
skorzystać, proszę nas kontaktować.  

繁体中文 / Cantonese 

本資料有繁体中文版，若你本人或你認識的甚麼人會受益於此版本，敬請聯絡我們。 

Magyar / Hungarian 
Ezeket az információkat magyar nyelven is tudjuk biztosítani. Ha Ön, vagy valaki, akit Ön ismer igényt tart erre a 
szolgáltatásra, kérem, keressen fel minket. 

Latviski / Latvian 
Šo informāciju var iegūt arī latviešu valodā. Ja Jums vai kādai no Jūsu paziņai šādi pakalpojumi nāktu par labu, lūdzu 
kontaktējiet mūs.  

Lietuviškai / Lithuanian 
Šią informaciją galite gauti lietuvių kalba. Prašome kreiptis į mus, jei jums arba jūsų pažįstamiems ši paslauga galėtų 
būti naudinga. 

Português / Portuguese 
Esta informação pode ser disponibilizada em português. Se você, ou alguém que conhecer, beneficiar com este 
serviço, por favor contacte-nos. 

русский / Russian 
Эта информация может быть доступна крупным шрифтом, шрифтом Брайля, на аудиокассете или на 
компьютерном диске. Если вы или кто-то из ваших знакомых может воспользоваться этой услугой, свяжитесь с 
нами. 
  
Slovenský / Slovak 
Tieto informácie je možné sprístupniť veľkou tlačou, Braillovým písmom, zvukovou páskou alebo počítačovým diskom. 
Ak z tejto služby môžete mať úžitok vy alebo niekto, koho poznáte, kontaktujte nás 

Pilipino / Tagalog 
Ang impormasyong ito ay maaaring magamit sa malaking print, Braille, sa audio tape o computer disc. Kung ikaw, o 
isang taong kilala mo, ay maaaring makinabang mula sa serbisyong ito, mangyaring makipag-ugnay sa amin 

Français / French 
Ces informations peuvent être mises à disposition en gros caractères, en braille, sur bande audio ou sur un disque 
d'ordinateur. Si vous, ou quelqu'un que vous connaissez, pourriez bénéficier de ce service, veuillez nous contacter. 

 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

10 September 2020 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 

  Cabinet Member for Communities 

         
  

 

Voluntary and Community Group Funding 

At a workshop held on 27th July 2020 with Members of the Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, participants discussed the various funding streams operated by the Council for 
the benefit of the voluntary and community sector in South Kesteven. This report provides 
background to that discussion, information relating to the funds available and outlines proposals to 
adapt the current criteria of the SK Community Fund to ensure that the funding available meets the 
needs of our residents and attains the furthest reach within our communities. 

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
 01476 406 161 

  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead 21 August 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

27 August 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

28 August 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to 
recommend to Cabinet changes relating to eligibility, maximum grant allowed and 
the capping of the claiming period for awards to one year as per the amended SK 
Community Fund grant criteria at Appendix A.  

41

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

2. The Committee is asked to consider the proposals to update the approach to future 
grant awards from 2021/22 onwards and recommend to Cabinet its preferred option 
as outlined at 1.26 of this report. 

3. Recommends to Cabinet that authority is delegated to the Strategic Director, 
Commercial and Operations, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Communities, to finalise arrangements and enter into an agreement on behalf of the 
Council with Lincolnshire Community Foundation/similar groups, to enable greater 
pound for pound matching of grant funding. 

 

42



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 A working group of Members of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee participated, along with the Cabinet Member for Communities and officers, in a 

workshop to discuss the Council’s current and future involvement with the voluntary and 

community sector on Monday 27th July 2020.   

1.2 This workshop covered five topics: 

• Councillors – considering the important role Members play 

• Conversation and Communication 

• Working Together 

• Celebrating Community Heroes 

• Grants and Funding Pots 

1.3 Other than the final topic, which is the subject of this report, verbal feedback from the 

workshop will be provided on all of the topics at the Committee’s meeting on the 10th 

September 2020. 

1.4 Members attending the workshop requested that a report be brought to the next meeting of 

the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee to outline the Council’s 

current funding and support offer to the voluntary and community sector and to provide detail 

of proposed changes to these funding streams. 

1.5 The council currently has three funding streams to directly support voluntary and community 

groups:   

• SK Community Fund  

Annual funding pot of £100,000 from 2020/21. Open to applications from constituted 

community groups for capital projects and events. Awards determined by a panel of 

elected Members based on agreed criteria. 

• Ward Member Scheme 

Annual funding pot – originally set at £26,000 for 2020/21 but increased to £56,000 

as a direct response to the COVID-19 outbreak. Awards determined by individual 

elected Members. 

• Foodbank Support Fund 

2020/21 one-off support fund of £15,000 for Foodbank’s located within South 

Kesteven. Via the completion of a simple form, Foodbanks can access this fund to 

support their operation in any way required and for any amount whilst there is funding 

remaining in the pot.   

1.6 We also have LotterySK which provides a platform for groups to raise money through 

lottery ticket sales.   

• 60p of every ticket sale goes to support local voluntary and community groups. For 

each £1 ticket purchased in support of a good cause registered, the group will earn 

50p. The remaining 10p is allocated to the SK Community Fund. If the ticket 

purchaser does not identify a specific group to support the 60p is allocated to the 

SK Community Fund. 

 

43



 

 
 

1.7 This report focuses on the SK Community Fund. It discusses its operation and impact to 

date and proposes amendments to its criteria. 

1.8 Proposed changes discussed within this report will have no impact on the Ward Member 

Grant Scheme, LotterySK or the Foodbank Support Fund. These funding sources will 

continue to work to their current criteria.   

Background to the SK Community Fund 

1.9 The SK Community Fund was established in 2015 to offer financial assistance to voluntary 

and community groups for projects and events that benefitted the residents of South 

Kesteven. 

1.10 From its inception, and until March 2020, the fund was administrated on the Council’s behalf 

by Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service as part of a service level agreement 

between the two organisations.   

1.11 Under its original criteria the fund is open to applications from constituted groups delivering 

projects under five generic headings: 

Project 
Category 

Types of Projects Supported Minimum/ 
Maximum 
Grant Levels 

Community 
Amenities 

Outdoor facilities such as ’Multi-Use Games Areas’, 

shelters, recreation areas, community orchards, footpaths 
etc. 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Community 
Buildings 

Repairs, maintenance and alterations to village halls 
and other public buildings, contributions to new build 
community buildings and the purchase of equipment to 
be used in community buildings 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Community 
Enterprise 

Projects which generate an ongoing revenue stream 
for a community such as community owned pubs, 
shops, cafes, and community tourism initiatives 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Supporting 
Communities  

 

 

Supporting the work of organisations that support 
communities, including social enterprises, support 
organisations and Neighbourhood Plans (to support the 
delivery of projects in Community Led/ Neighbourhood 
Plans)  

Min =       £500 
Max = £10,000 

Community 
Events  

Community celebrations, sports events, street 
festivals, arts and cultural events.  

 

Min =     £200 
Max = £5,000 

 

1.12 The fund criteria allowed applicants to seek up to 80% of project costs up to a maximum of 

£10,000 for all but community events which had a maximum contribution of £5,000. 

1.13 Across the 18 funding rounds that have taken place since the fund was introduced it has 

supported 93 capital projects and events amounting to awards offered totalling £553,679. 

Much of this funding has been sought to refurbish village and community halls, sports fields 

and play areas. 

1.14 In March 2020 our agreement with Lincolnshire CVS came to a natural end and it was 

determined that the administration of the fund be brought in house. To this point the funding 

pot of £150,000 had been included in the annual budget proposals. The budget for 2020/21 

reduced the fund to £100,000 per annum.  These changes provide a sensible point to review 

44



 

 
 

the criteria of the SK Community Fund to ensure that it continues to meet the needs of the 

community and the priorities of the Council. 

The Impact of COVID-19 

1.15 The fund was originally scheduled for review in March 2020 to make the necessary changes 

resulting from the change of administrative process and the reduction in available funding.  

The fund was temporarily closed to applications so that the necessary changes could be 

made.   

1.16 The review was put on hold at the start of the nation-wide lockdown resulting from the 

COVID-19 pandemic and the Fund remains closed to applications until the review is 

completed. 

1.17 Connection with local voluntary, faith and community groups increased significantly at this 

time as they worked collaboratively with the Authority through its SK Community Hub to 

support the needs of the vulnerable during lockdown. 

1.18 Our connection to the voluntary and community sector has never been stronger and it is 

evident that COVID-19 and their un-failing commitment to support local communities 

throughout lockdown has come at a cost – both financially and emotionally. 

1.19 The changes proposed in this report to our most significant funding stream are intended to 

strengthen the connection we have with these groups.  Amendments to the SK Community 

Fund will make it fit better with the identified needs in our communities whilst maintaining a 

support package available to constituted groups across our district. 

1.20 Issues around mental health and wellbeing; social and rural isolation and our support for 

projects which tackle them have been debated for some time but never more than during 

the recent lockdown period response to the COVID-19 pandemic.   

1.21 Whilst many within communities rallied in practical support of their neighbours, mental 

health suffered, and feelings of loneliness and isolation were felt more acutely.   

Proposed changes to the criteria of the SK Community Fund 

1.22 This report seeks support to recommend to Cabinet amendments to the criteria of the fund 

to increase opportunities for voluntary and community groups working to raise awareness 

and reduce the negative impact of poor mental wellbeing, loneliness and social and rural 

isolation. 

1.23 Proposals for change, given the reduced budget available within this funding stream, are for 

the maximum grant allowance to be streamlined so that all applications would qualify for a 

grant of up to £5,000 toward the cost of a project or event.  This would bring all awards from 

the SK Community Fund in line with the current maximum grant allowed for applications in 

the community events category and help to ensure that funding remains widely available to 

support projects within the District.   

1.24 Further changes include the introduction of a new grant category in support of projects that 

address mental health, social and rural isolation and loneliness. The claiming period for 

awards will be reduced from two years to one year to provide parity with the budget process 

and it is also proposed that parish and town councils are removed from the eligibility criteria 

as they have alternative means of raising revenue to meet their localised spending 

requirements such as the Town and Parish Council Precept. 

45



 

 
 

1.25 It is intended, on recommendation from Members, that these changes take immediate effect 

to allow the Fund to re-open for applications. The criteria for the Fund which include the 

changes outlined in 1.23 can be found at appendix A. 

1.26 Members are further asked to consider and make recommendation on the future operation 

of the Fund for 2021/22 onwards based on the following options:  

• To maintain the status quo of the SK Community Fund leaving the funding 

pot open to all eligible groups. 

• Increase focus on areas of priority by leaving the funding pot open to all 

eligible groups but apportion it so that, in its first year, 20% of the total would 

be ringfenced for applications relating to mental health and wellbeing, 

loneliness and isolation.   

• Increase focus on areas of priority by leaving the funding pot open to all 

eligible groups but build into its criteria a weighting mechanism for individual 

applications so that projects supporting areas of priority would score higher 

than general applications. 

1.27 Under the first option the Fund would continue in its current format but with the introduction 

of the new category in relation to the areas of priority. 

1.28 Option two would allow the Fund to be more focused on areas of priority through the 

ringfencing of funding to support priority projects. This option would not be actioned until the 

next financial year (2021/22).  Under this option it is further proposed that this percentage 

split is increased to a 30/70% allocation in 2022/23 and 40/60% split in 2023/24 in favour of 

the areas of priority as the voluntary and community sector develops and adapts and 

evidence of need is identified.  Apportioning the fund in this way would create a concentrated 

focus for how we want to distribute grant funding across the district however, demand on 

each allocation could potentially cause imbalance if the funding is ringfenced in this way, 

resulting in over-subscription to one part of the pot and under-subscription in the other. 

1.29 Option three would also allow the Fund to be more focused on areas of priority by use of a 

weighted scoring matrix for applications eligible for funding. This approach, whilst still 

favouring the priorities (projects of priority scoring higher on the matrix), would mean the 

Fund remains open to all. Operating to this method would ensure an equitable approach to 

eligibility for funding for projects across the district and provide opportunity to gain evidence 

of demand from within the voluntary and community sector for funding to projects that meet 

the priorities. The potential negative to operating the fund in this way is that the funding pot 

could continue to only be utilised for the more generic projects and not provide the impetus 

for the voluntary and community sector to deliver projects that meet the identified priorities. 

As with option two, this option would not be introduced until the financial year 2021/22.   

Further funding opportunities and initiatives 

1.30 The Council is currently working in collaboration with the Lincolnshire Community 

Foundation (LCF) to raise funds via a Total Giving crowd funding initiative to support local 

groups working across our district as a direct response to the COVID-19 crisis.  To further 

maximise the funding offer available to voluntary and community groups in South Kesteven 

we are also exploring further opportunities to work with the LCF to boost our funding offer 

whereby the Foundation can match pound for pound an agreed proportion of the funding 

we have to support voluntary and community groups. 

46



 

 
 

1.31 We will continue to explore with the LCF potential options for mutual benefit and seek 

support to enter into an agreement with the LCF if a good arrangement can be reached. 

Going Forward 

1.32 A single grant register has been established to reduce the risk of double funding of groups 

applying to more than one funding pot for the same project.  This will mean that grants from 

the SK Community Fund, Foodbank Support Fund and Ward Member Grant Scheme cannot 

unknowingly give grants to the same initiative. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Feedback from the workshop held on 27th July 2020 has been included in this report. 

Feedback from the Committee is welcomed and will be included within any subsequent 

report to Cabinet. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Alternative options are contained within this report. 

4   Preferred Option 

4.1   The preferred option in relation to the future of the Fund is to leave it open to all eligible 

groups but to build into its criteria the additional category which focus on areas of priority.  

Those being: mental health, social and rural isolation and loneliness.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The recommendation to amend the criteria will allow for the Fund to re-open to applications. 

and apportion funding will give weight to the Council’s priorities  

5.2 Recommending the introduction of priorities to reduce loneliness and isolation and will 

further assist groups and charities to work in communities to positively impact on mental 

health and mental wellbeing.  

5.3 Working in partnership with others to boost our funding offer will enable greater match 

funded grants and to consider opportunities for some strategic/thematic campaigns around 

issues/geographic areas of priority. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following feedback from the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee a 

report encapsulating comments and recommendations from Members will be prepared to 

go to Cabinet for a key decision to be made on the agreed amendments to community 

funding. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial governance arrangements in respect of the Fund administration are robust 

and the proposal to reduce the claim period from 24 to 12 months will improve the accuracy 

of committed funds that otherwise could be made available to other schemes.  The allocation 

of funding for the community fund scheme (and all the other funds referred to in the report) 

are considered by Council on an annual basis and therefore the options for future allocations 

are subject to Council funding being approved each financial year.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

47



 

 
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no further legal implications other than as set out in the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The SK Community Fund remains open to applications from constituted voluntary and 

community groups.  The process is equitable and awards from the Fund are determined on 

set criteria that are applied by an awarding panel of Elected Members. The potential for 

positive impact and opportunities to foster good relations are increased if agreement is 

reached through this committee and Cabinet to actively seek applications that tackle issues 

such as social isolation, loneliness and mental health and wellbeing. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No high-level risks identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Community Fund Criteria for Application 2015 

14.2 Review of Community Fund 2017 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – SK Community Fund Criteria 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

18 June 2020 

Final Decision date   10 September 2020 

 

48

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3189#AI17376
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3501#AI20228


 1 

 

 

 

 
South Kesteven District Council Community Fund  

Criteria, Application Process and Conditions 
of Funding 

 

 

 

 

If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact the Corporate Operations 
Team on Tel: 01476 406080 (extn 6161) or e mail: communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 
Please read these guidance notes carefully and refer to them when completing the application form. 

 

 
 

1.1 The South Kesteven Community Fund has been established to support and develop community                  
initiatives within South Kesteven District. South Kesteven District Council’s Corporate Operations 
Team administers this fund. The Team will also be able to assist groups with all aspects involved in 
choosing the correct fund and completing the application forms.  
 

1.2 Grants are available for groups and organisations that are involved in community projects and 
events that benefit the residents and communities in the district.  Groups and organisations  

must demonstrate how their project or event will deliver wide benefit, contributing to the 
sustainability, vitality and well-being of South Kesteven’s communities and the Council’s priorities.   

 

 

 
 

2.1 The fund total of £100,000 is available and it is intended that the full amount will be awarded.   

 
2.2 Payment will be made in 2 stages, with 75% of the grant being paid prior to commencement of 

the project or event and 25% after completion. 
 
2.3 80% of total eligible costs, up to a maximum award of £5000 can be applied for toward the cost 

of community projects or events. The minimum contribution (match funding) required from 
applicants is 20%. This can be made up of own cash contribution, donations, grants and 
sponsorship and a maximum of 10% (of total costs) in-kind volunteer time or materials. 

 
2.4 The value of volunteer in-kind time should be calculated at the average hourly pay rate of £9.90. 

 
2.5 The kinds of projects and events that can be supported by the Community Fund are shown in 

the table below.  

1. Introduction 

2. How much money is available and what can be funded? 

49

Appendix A

mailto:SKCommunityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk


 2 

 

 

 
2.6 Awards towards the maximum figure available will require significant levels of match funding and 

demonstrable community need and support. 
 
 

Project 
Category 

Types of Projects Supported 

Supporting 
Communities  

 

 

 

Supporting the work of organisations that support communities.  Project 
that support communities to tackle issues of loneliness, social or rural 
isolation, mental health and wellbeing.  

Community 
Amenities 

Outdoor facilities such as ’Multi-Use Games Areas’, community shelters, 
recreation areas, community orchards etc. 

Community 
Buildings 

Repairs, maintenance and alterations to village halls and other public 
buildings, contributions to new build community buildings and the 
purchase of equipment to be used in community buildings 

Community 
Enterprise 

Projects which generate an ongoing revenue stream for a community 
such as community owned pubs, shops, cafes, and community tourism 
initiatives 

Community 
Events  

One-off community celebrations, sports events, street festivals, arts 
and cultural events.  

  

 

 
 

3.1 The SK Community Fund is not open to applications from Parish and Town Councils, clubs that 
require people to pay a membership fee in order to participate, closed groups e.g. resident’s 
associations (set up costs for new groups and free, open-access events may be eligible). Other 
events/projects that will not be supported include: 

 
i. Projects or events that are for private gain. 
ii. Events primarily intended to pass on surplus income to other organisations, e.g. 

charity concerts. 
iii. Revenue costs - salaries, project officer or other employee costs, rents, statutory 

training etc. (Sessional worker fees requested as part of an Events application 
may be considered). 

iv. Projects or events that already receive SKDC District Council funding (e.g. SKDC Ward 
Member Grant Scheme, Foodbank Support Fund etc). 

v. Regular events (unless they have a significantly new and different aspect). 
vi. General appeals or sponsorship. 

vii. Activities of a mainly political or religious nature, improvements to the fabric of 
church buildings, and its fixtures and fittings (non-religious community activities 
only, held within a place of worship, may be eligible). 

viii. Piece-meal adaptations/refurbishments to community facilities. 
ix. Contingency funds, income deficits, bridging loans or security against a loan. 

 
 

3. What will not be funded? 

50



 3 

 

 

 
 

4.1 We welcome applications from constituted community and voluntary groups, charities and social 
enterprises to deliver projects that benefit communities in South Kesteven District. We do not 
accept applications from individuals. 

 

4.2 Applications will be assessed on their ability to: 
• Deliver wide community benefit, contributing to the sustainability, vitality and well-

being of SKDC’s communities, such as encouraging volunteering and 
participation 

• Contribute to locally identified community needs and priorities (such as loneliness, 
social or rural isolation, mental health and wellbeing etc.) 

• Contribute to South Kesteven District Council’s priorities 

• Demonstrate value for money (through obtaining written quotes and estimates) 

• Measure the success of a project or event 

• Demonstrate equality of opportunity and the elimination of discrimination 
 

4.3 To apply to the SK Community Fund your group or organisation must have: 

• A written governing document or constitution 
• A bank or building society account in the name of your group or organisation with at 

least two signatories who are unrelated and do not live at the same address 
• Relevant policies and procedures 
• Where possible photographic evidence should be supplied with your application. 
 

4.4 You are required to provide all necessary documentation to support your application including 
copies of two written quotes for all items of expenditure of £50 - £2,499 (incl VAT) and three 
quotes for all items of expenditure of £2,500 and above. The written quotes and estimates 
must display the relevant company names and addresses and be less than six months old. 
Your chosen quotation should be highlighted and should exactly match the amount on your 
application form. 
 

4.5 Grants will not be awarded retrospectively (i.e. for work or equipment already purchased or 
events which have already taken place). 

 
4.6 We will not make more than one award in a financial year to the same organisation or group. 

Groups can apply up to a maximum of 3 times.  All applications must be for clearly identifiable 
different projects or events and previously funded projects must have been completed prior 
to the submission of any subsequent application. 

 
4.7 It is unlikely that the SK Community Fund will be able to provide grants for all potentially eligible 

applications. Therefore, we reserve the right to prioritise applications to achieve best value for 
money. We also reserve the right to decline applications which do not meet the stated criteria. 
 

4.8 Financial information provided along with any application is open to question by the Awarding 
Panel. The Panel reserves the right to question an applicant’s non-commitment of funds if a 
bank statement shows sufficient funds are available to support a project without a grant being 
given.  The Panel will also question a stated commitment of funds when there is insufficient 
evidence to show such funds are available to the applicant. 
 
 

4. Criteria for funding 

51



 4 

 

 

 
 

5.1 On receipt of your application we will make an initial assessment to check that your group or 
organisation and project or event are eligible and that all required supporting documentation 
has been provided. The Corporate Operations Team may contact you to obtain missing 
information, documentation or for clarification: however, the emphasis is on the applying 
organisation to ensure the application is complete and accurate. 

 
5.2 The Corporate Operations Team will aim to acknowledge receipt of your application within 

five working days of receiving it. This will be by email where you have provided an email 
address but otherwise will be by letter. 
 

5.3 Eligible applications that are accompanied by the required supporting documentation will be 
put before the Awarding Panel for consideration. The Panel is a forum of elected members 
capable of decision making for community bids that will influence the delivery of community-
based projects and initiatives. Projects and events must provide wide community benefit and 
contribute to the sustainability, vitality and well-being of communities in the South Kesteven 
district. 

 
5.4 The Panel will meet at regular intervals to review applications.  It is expected Panel meetings 

will take place approximately 4-6 weeks after the closing date for applications being submitted 
for consideration. 

 
5.5 Applicants will be informed (usually by email) whether or not the Panel has recommended their 

project or event to receive a grant, within five working days of the meeting taking place. 
 

5.6 South Kesteven District Council’s Awarding Panel’s decision is final and cannot be changed 
(no appeals or discussions will be entered into). 
 

5.7 Payment will be made in two stages, with 75% of the grant being paid prior to commencement 
of the project or event and 25% after completion. 
 

5.8 A Project Completion Form must be completed and submitted by the applicant on completion 
of their project or event in order to draw down the final 25% payment. 

 

 
 

6.1 Grants must be spent within one year of an award being made (from the date on the grant 
offer letter). 

 
6.2 Grants awarded must be spent on the purpose stated in the application. If for any reason your 

circumstances change or you wish to vary the way in which you spend your grant, you are 
required to contact the Corporate Operations Team to request written permission to do so. 
 

6.3 In the event of a group or organisation ceasing to operate or failing to undertake or complete 
the project or event for which the grant was offered, South Kesteven District Council reserves 
the right to withhold payment, to reduce an award or seek its recovery. 

 

5. How your application is dealt with 

6. Conditions of funding 

52



 5 

 

 

6.4 Financial support provided by South Kesteven District Council should be acknowledged on all 
relevant printed publicity, on websites and in information given to the press. Relevant 
guidance will be provided to applicants at the time of a grant offer being made. 

 
6.5 Your group or organisation must ensure that its project or event operates within the 

requirements of all legislation. 

 
6.6 Your group or organisation should ensure equality of opportunity and the elimination of 

discrimination in the delivery of its project or event. 

 
6.7 You are required to inform the Council when your project or event has been completed and to 

submit a Project Completion Form within three months of completion (The Corporate 
Operations Team will provide you with a template). You will also need to provide relevant 
invoices and bank statements showing payments made. Groups or organisations that do not 
complete and return a satisfactory Project Completion Form and provide the required 
documentation within the agreed timetable will not be eligible to draw-down the final 25% of 
any grant awarded and may be required to return the funding paid to them at the outset of the 
project. Groups that do not fulfil this obligation will not be considered for future funding (no 
appeals or discussions will be entered into). 
 
 

 
 

Applications will be assessed at regular intervals. Please refer to South Kesteven District Council’s 
website for current timelines and dates. http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk   

 
 

Contact the Corporate Operations Team: 
 
The Corporate Operations Team 
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peter’s Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 

 Tel: 01476 406080 (extn 6161) 
 Email:  communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk 

7. Application timetable 

53

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8363
mailto:communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

10 September 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

SKDC Review of Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 
and Impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) 

 

 

 

Report Author 

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer 

 
 07900 270419 

  c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 14 August 2020 

Approved by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director - Housing 21 August 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

28 August 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the contents, comment and feedback to officers and/or Lincolnshire County 
Council, as necessary. 

55

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 It is two years since the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) came into force in England 

on the 3rd April 2018. The main changes were: 

• the definition of homelessness changed from being threatened with homelessness 

within 28 days to 56 days;  

• the introduction of prevention and relief ‘duties’ rather than ‘powers’  

• a new ‘duty to refer’, which required certain statutory agencies to refer homeless and 

potentially homeless people to housing authorities (this was introduced in October 

2018) 

The National Picture 

1.2 A Local Government Information Unit (LGUI) report ‘Briefing: The Homelessness 

Reduction Act: is it making a difference”, published on the 7th May 2020, incorporates the 

findings from two reports: Foot in the Door by Crisis and Caught in the Act by Shelter (two 

of the major national homelessness charities).  The main findings from these reports are: 

• People are more likely to receive personal assistance from local authorities, 
especially single adults 

• Councils help about two in five households to resolve their homelessness 
problem 

• Just one in five households assisted through the prevention duty end up staying 
in their existing home 

• ‘Digital gatekeeping’ and other barriers exist at some local authorities 

• Personalised plans are too general and not always followed up by councils 

• The duty to refer is having limited success but does not include enough public 
bodies 

1.3 The report states how MHCLG statistics show: 

1) The number of households assessed as owed one of the two new duties rose between 
the second and third quarters of 2019: households assessed as owed a prevention or 
relief duty – up 5% from Q2 to Q3 in 2019 

SKDC situation: prevention and relief duties - 2018/19: 815 and 2019/20: 620 

2) The number of households offered the main homelessness duty (s.193 of the Housing 
Act, Part VII where we have accepted the household as eligible; homeless; priority 
need; unintentionally homeless and have a local connection) is down by about a 
quarter as a result of the new duties, with 9,650 households accepted as owed a main 
duty between July and September 2019. 

SKDC situation: 2018/19: 56 and 2019/20: 112 

Although this amount doubled between 2018/19 and 2019/2020, there is still a 
reduction in comparison to 2016/17: 197 and 2017/18: 199 

3) In 2018/19, 85,260 single people were found to be homeless, up from 13,790 the 
previous year. Shelter states “this increase suggests that, rather than being told they 
are not in priority need for rehousing, single people are being assessed and recorded”.   

SKDC situation: SKDC already assessed and recorded all people who approached as 
potentially homeless as well as homeless. The national increase in approaches and 
the recording of these is also likely to be due to people referred under the Duty to 
Refer. 

56



 

 
 

SKDC total number of approaches from homeless and potentially homeless people: 

2019/20: 1460 

2018/19: 1561 

2017/18: 1233 

2016/17: 1339 

4) MHCLG figures show that households without children (including single adults) make 
up two thirds of households offered one of the two new duties. 

SKDC situation: Mirrors the national picture – households with single people: 
2018/2019: 439 (54% of households offered one of the two new duties) and 2019/20: 
390 (63% of households offered one of the two new duties). 

5) Shelter advisors found onerous requests for proof of homelessness and identity, 
requiring people to make an online application and not accepting referrals until the last 
minute, such as the day a person is released from prison. 

SKDC situation: Prior to the Covid-19 lockdown, customers would be seen immediately 
by a triage officer in person to set up a new case and take an application. Now we are 
remote working, customers are able to complete the process over the phone with a 
triage officer. They are also able to make an application online via our website. 

6) Shelter states “despite the potential for earlier intervention, just 21 per cent of 
households threatened with homelessness are remaining in their existing home”. 

SKDC situation:  

2019/20: 8% 

2018/19: 11% 

2017/18: 3% 

2016/17: 6% 

7) The number of households in temporary accommodation (TA) has risen and length of 
time spent in TA risen. 

SKDC situation: The way in which our temporary accommodation figures are recorded 
for households occupying our own TA stock, we are not able to separate households in 
TA from one month to the next. This makes it difficult to ascertain the total number of 
households per year. However, we can see from our B&B spend that there has been 
an increase in the number of households needing TA. 

2019/20: £89,985 

2018/19: £75,094 

2017/18: £45,437 

2016/17: £25,104 

8) The Crisis research found that local authorities helped households to resolve their 
homelessness problem in 39 per cent of cases. A further 31 per cent reported they had 
either supported themselves or received help from family or friends, while 30 per cent 
said the problem was still ongoing. 

SKDC situation: The number of households assisted in either preventing or relieving 
their homelessness: 

2019/20: 283 (20% of total approaches) 

57



 

 
 

2018/19: 323 (21% of total approaches) 

2017/18: 138 (11% of total approaches) 

2016/17: 135 (10% of total approaches) 

9) Councils are required to provide more personalised assistance. There has, says 
Shelter, been some culture change in how people are treated when they approach 
homelessness services. Mystery shoppers working for Shelter audited six councils and 
found that advisers were generally empathetic and helpful. But 48 per cent of Shelter 
advisors felt that personalised housing plans (PHPs), a requirement under the act, are 
rarely tailored to clients’ needs. “Many plans fail to recognise people’s support needs, 
and instead provide information about how unaffordable the local area is,” says 
Shelter. 

SKDC situation: The opinion of the Senior Housing Options Advisor was sought and he 
said “PHPs can be very impersonal and consist of the same questions that we ask 
every customer. It feels more like a tick box exercise than a tool which is genuinely 
useful to us and the customer to prevent/relieve homelessness”. 

1.4 The report asks the following questions: 

1.4.1 What does the act reveal about causes of homelessness? 

The MHCLG’s statistics for last July to September show a quarter of households assessed 

as homeless or threatened with homelessness identified ‘friends or family no longer willing 

or able to accommodate’ as the main reason for losing their last settled home. The second 

most common reason was termination of an assured shorthold tenancy (20 per cent). 

Relationship breakdowns, both violent and non-violent, also accounted for about one in 

five cases. 

SKDC situation: For the 2 years prior to the implementation of the Homelessness 

Reduction Act and the two years since, the three main reasons for homelessness have all 

been the same, with ‘termination of assured shorthold tenancy’ being the most common 

reason, ‘family no longer willing or able to accommodate’ being the second and ‘non-

violent relationship breakdown with partner’ the third most common reason. 

1.4.2 How can implementation of the act be improved? 

Both Shelter and Crisis are adamant that the solution to homelessness does not lie in 

better legislation, but more social and affordable housing and an increase in local housing 

allowance (LHA) rates for households renting from private landlords. *Both charities’ 

reports were published before the government returned LHA rates to the 30th percentile of 

local private rents in response to the coronavirus crisis*. 

SKDC situation: The LHA rates do not cover the cost of private rented accommodation in 

the south of the district and Grantham rents are starting to rise, although the LHA rate for 

a room in a shared house in Grantham has vastly increased in this year’s LHA rates. 

14 Council properties were completed in 2019/20 and we have 160 planned starts in 

2020/21. 

There were 125 affordable housing homes (affordable rent and shared ownership) 

delivered by our registered provider partners in 2019/20. 

The following themes emerge from the two reports, indicating where local authorities can 

implement the Homelessness Reduction Act better and how its scope might be widened: 

 

58



 

 
 

 

1.4.3 Help more people to remain in their home 

Shelter found that, in four out of five cases, households owed the prevention duty did not 

end up staying in their existing home. It praises councils that make fuller use of 

discretionary housing payments to help with rent problems and so prevent eviction, or that 

negotiate with landlords on behalf of tenants. 

SKDC situation: Less than four out of five households remain in their current home. The 

total number of homeless prevention and reliefs were 20% for 2019/20 and 21% for 

2018/19. 

At SKDC we do prevent homelessness through negotiation with landlords and make use 

of Discretionary Housing Payments. 

1.4.4 Reduce ‘digital gatekeeping’ at local authorities 

Some people surveyed by Shelter said they were frustrated in their attempts to seek 

assistance because they were unable to speak to a housing officer in person or by phone 

until they made an online application. 

SKDC situation: As stated in section 5, prior to the Covid-19 lockdown, customers would 

be seen immediately by a triage officer in person to set up a new case and take an 

application. Now we are remote working, customers are able to complete the process over 

the phone with a triage officer. 

1.4.5 Introduce a statutory code of practice 

A statutory code of practice that provides “a clear and enforceable set of standards for 

local authorities” would raise standards of homelessness services across the country, 

says Crisis. The existing code of guidance could also be strengthened. Changes might 

include more guidance on amendments to allocations policies, advice and information for 

specific groups, determination of affordability, and regular contact and progression within 

56 days. 

1.4.6 Widen partnership working, including the duty to refer 

Both charities doubt whether other public bodies, including those covered by the duty to 

refer, are taking up their responsibilities fully or even aware of their obligations. 

SKDC situation: South Kesteven is part of the Lincolnshire wide Duty to Refer protocol 

and an online portal is in place across Lincolnshire for agency referrals to be made. In 

setting up the protocol, Lincolnshire local housing authorities worked with other agencies, 

in addition to the statutory agencies, to raise awareness to refer any homeless people to 

them. 

SKDC has received 75 referrals in total since the Duty to Refer came into effect. We have 

received referrals from: DWP, P3 charity, Cygnet Hospital Harrogate, LCC, HMP Stafford, 

Probation, EDAN, Social Service Authority, Adult Social Care, Lincolnshire Police, Army, 

NHS Lincolnshire and Shelter. 

Prison services told Shelter that, while they made referrals as soon as they were aware 

that someone could be homeless once leaving prison, local authorities would not accept 

an application or attempt an assessment until a person had actually been released. 

59



 

 
 

SKDC situation: We have a system whereby triage officers are booking the appointments 

for the Homeless Prevention Officers within the 5 days of referral and so this should not be 

an issue in South Kesteven. 

1.4.7 Provide local authorities with more money 

In 2017, the MHCLG provided councils in England with £73m over three years in ‘new 

burdens funding’ to implement the act. But a Local Government Association survey of 

councils a year ago found that almost one third did not think it was enough. Councils also 

said they were short of staff. 

SKDC situation: Received £27,536 in New Burdens Funding. To implement the changes 

required from the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, this funding is 

considered to have been sufficient. However, we have seen an increase in the number of 

households requiring temporary accommodation and this has incurred additional expense. 

The report states how the Covid-19 crisis makes building more social housing even more 

unlikely. At the same time, pressure on local government funds will be even tighter. 

SKDC situation: We are not anticipating any major issues due to Covid-19 on our planned 

Council housing delivery; any impact will be around materials and labour. Contractors to 

date, feel confident they can meet demand, but this is being reviewed continually. 

However, the delivery of affordable housing from our partner registered providers will not 

be as good this year, as development sites are only just starting up again.  At present, 

there are 44 estimated completions. As we move through the year, other sites will 

commence, although it is unlikely that they will complete by March 2021 to be counted in 

this year’s affordable housing delivery statistics. 

Homes England is currently looking at ways in which more affordable housing can be 

delivered. 

Covid 19 has had an impact upon us though in terms of demand and supply for housing 

as a result of the ‘Everyone In’ approach (Government funding for an emergency scheme 

to keep rough sleepers off the streets amid the coronavirus pandemic). We placed 30 

rough sleepers/people at risk of rough sleeping into temporary accommodation. We have 

supported 27 households into more settled accommodation and we are still providing 

temporary accommodation to 3. Plans are in place to also support them into settled 

accommodation. 

Achievements of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy (2017 – 2021) 

1.5 South Kesteven is part of the countywide Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy (2017 – 

2021).  The main achievements against the delivery plan so far are: 

• Developing and maintaining strategic relationships and partnerships – achieved: Terms 
of Reference are clear with links to the District Housing Forum and Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

• Contribute to the Housing and Health Care Delivery Group (a sub group of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the Housing Joint Strategy Needs Assessment) – achieved: 
this was a specific group set up to shape the new contracts, which have been issued. 

• Implement a countywide process to meet the new requirements of the Duty to Refer 
under the Homelessness Reduction Act, 2017 – achieved: a Duty to Refer protocol is 
in place and a countywide online process for agencies to refer is in place. 

60



 

 
 

• Develop online information on how to get help or give help for homelessness in 
Lincolnshire – achieved: via the Duty to Refer online portal and each Council’s website. 

• Reduce evictions in social housing and the private rented sector – partially achieved: 
the housing related support contracts state to notify the relevant local authority of 
pending evictions, more needs to be done with other registered providers. 

• Reduce rough sleeping – in progress: although rough sleeping has increased, this 
mirrors the national picture. South Kesteven District Council co-ordinated a bid for the 
MHCLG year 3 Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) funding in partnership with three other 
Lincolnshire local authorities, resulting in a successful award. The Change4Lincs 
project commenced on the 1st July. 

• Deliver the Social Impact Bond project ACTion Lincs – achieved: project successful. 

• Review and improve SWEP provision across the county – achieved: we now have a 
countywide document stating what other agencies can expect from each district. 

• Identify opportunities to work with EEA nationals with no recourse to public funds – 
achieved: Boston Borough Council received funding to administer on behalf of county 
via P3 charity. 

• Improved access to private rented accommodation for those on benefits or a low 
income – in progress: funding for assistance with private rented accommodation is 
incorporated in the awarded RSI funding. 

• Understand the need for accommodation to allow districts to fulfil their full housing 
duties – in progress: being addressed at a local district level. 

Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping Strategy (2019-2021) 

1.6 South Kesteven is part of the Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping Strategy (2019-2021) 

This identifies: 

• The continued challenges in tackling rough sleeping in Lincolnshire 

• The response to the challenges so far 

• What we still need to do 

• The current barriers and challenges 

• Each local authority area priorities 

A countywide action plan will be drawn up to tackle these challenges. 

MHCLG Rough Sleeping Initiative Year 3 Funding 

1.7 MHCLG advertised an opportunity to bid for the Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) year 3 

funding. A bid was submitted due to a double in the amount of rough sleepers in the South 

Kesteven area and potential for more, as experienced across the rest of the county and 

the UK. Also, the funding is to prevent rough sleeping and not just to assist those currently 

rough sleeping. The bid was submitted in partnership with the 3 other Lincolnshire local 

authorities of South Kesteven DC; North Kesteven DC; South Holland DC and West 

Lindsey DC. 

We were successful in receiving an award of £595,523.00. This funding will enable the 

recruitment of the following posts and pots of money to be used across the four local 

authority areas: 

• 1 x FTE  Co-ordinator/Navigator 

• 4 x FTE Outreach Worker(s) 

61

https://www.lincoln.gov.uk/downloads/file/811/lincolnshire-rough-sleeping-strategy-2019-to-2021


 

 
 

• 4 x FTE Supported Lettings Officers   

• 1 x FTE Physical health professional  

• Rent Top Ups for Improved Access to Private Rented £31,200 

• Rent Guarantee Scheme - £ 50,000 

• Enhanced Bond Payments - £30,000 

• Emergency Access Accommodation- £30,000 

• Proposed Funding for Rough Sleeper Support - £6000 

• 2 x FTE Intensive Support Workers 

• 2 x FTE Local Lettings Officers 

This funding will assist in enabling the actions in the Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping Strategy 

to be met. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Consultation with the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Manager and South Kesteven 

District Council’s Housing Options Team Leader and Senior Housing Options Officer. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 N/A – The report is for information only 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 N/A – The report is for information only 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 This is information only for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 N/A – The report is for information only 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 In respect of the Rough Sleepers Initiative that is referenced in the report, the financial 

arrangements and governance for the funding allocation has been set out in a separate 

officer delegation decision report.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 No legal implications. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No equality and safeguarding implications. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 N/A 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 N/A 

62



 

 
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 N/A 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Link for Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-2021 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Not applicable 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

63

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26271&p=0


This page is intentionally left blank



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme 

 

Current Issues/Status  Activities and Timetable  
Outcome sought / Key 
lines of enquiry 

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

• Garden Maintenance 

• Frozen Pipes 

• Disabled Facilities Grants 

• Housing Repairs 

• Homelessness 

• Local Lessons from Covid-19 

• Stop the Knock 

18 June 2020, 
2:00pm 
(virtual) 

Committee to feedback and 
comment on verbal updates, 
and suggest/request areas 
for further scrutiny at future 
meetings 

SK Community Hub 
An update on the work of the SK Community Hub and the support 
provided during the Covid-19 pandemic 

To convene a workshop to 
consider working with the 
community and voluntary 
sector, and feedback further 
recommendations to the 
Committee as necessary 

Community Response to 
Covid-19 

Written report summarising local community response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, and what we have learned so far 

To review the way services 
and support has changed, 
consider which options 
should continue post-Covid, 
and feedback to Cabinet as 
necessary 

Work Programme 2020/21 
To consider which items within the Committee’s remit should be 
considered during the 2020/21 municipal year, and which items 
Cabinet members should report on verbally to each meeting 

To populate and agree the 
draft work programme 

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

• The Traveller Community 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 

• Housing Repairs 

10 September 
2020, 1:00pm 
(note new 
time) (virtual) 
 
 

 

65

A
genda Item

 11



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme 

 

Current Issues/Status  Activities and Timetable  
Outcome sought / Key 
lines of enquiry 

Equality Annual Position 
Statement 

To consider the 2019/20 position statement for Equalities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10 September 
2020  

To note the contents, make 
any suggestions for 
improvements, and 
recommend for publication 

Feedback from the 
workshop to explore 
future working with the 
voluntary and community 
sector 

Verbal update from a recent workshop of the Committee 

To consider outcomes of the 
workshop and make 
recommendations to 
colleagues, Cabinet, or for 
further scrutiny as necessary 

Review of Community 
Funding 

Review of existing community funding streams 
To make recommendations 
to colleagues, Cabinet or for 
further scrutiny as necessary 

Lincolnshire 
Homelessness Strategy 
Review and the Impact of 
the Homelessness 
Reduction Act: SKDC 
perspective 

Report detailing local homelessness information, and the SKDC 
view of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review 

To comment and feedback to 
Lincolnshire County Council 
as necessary 

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

• TBC 

12 November 
2020, 2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

 

Use of Community 
Infrastructure Levy 

To assess the feasibility of using the Community Infrastructure 
Levy 

Assess feasibility and make 
recommendations either way 
to Cabinet 

Riverside Flats 
To consider the independent report into issues around repairs to 
the heating system at Riverside Flats in Grantham 

To consider the report and 
make any recommendations 
to Cabinet 

   

   

66



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme 

 

Current Issues/Status  Activities and Timetable  
Outcome sought / Key 
lines of enquiry 

  7 January 
2021, 2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

 

   

  
11 March 
2021, 2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

 

   

   

  
29 April 2021, 
2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

   

  

  67



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme 

 

Unscheduled items 

Review of Crowd Funding 
Feedback on high level review of crowd-funding, assessing the 
impact so far  

TBC 

Review various crowdfunding 
options available, make 
suggestions for improvement 
and streamlining, feedback to 
Cabinet 

Crime and Disorder – 
Neighborhood Policing / 
ASB 

Inspector Gary Stewart to be invited to attend  TBC Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 

 

REMIT 
The remit of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of policy 
and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Anti-social Behaviour 

• Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

• Benefit Claims 

• Community Cohesion 

• Community Funding & Volunteering 

• Community Right to Bid 

• Community Safety and Local Policing 

• Customer Services 

• DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 

• Empty Homes Assistance 

• Empty Homes Discount 

• Equalities and Diversity 

• Essential Home Repair Assistance 

• Gravitas Housing 

• Health 

• Homelessness 

• Housing Management, Improvement and 

Repairs 

• Housing Partnership 

• HR and Organisational Development 

• Landlords Forum 

• Parish and Town Council Liaison 

• Procurement 

• Safeguarding 

• Well-being 

Membership 7 

68


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 18 June 2020
	7 Equality Annual Position Statement
	Appendix A - Equality Annual Position Statement 2020

	9 Review of Community Funding
	Appendix A - Criteria Application Process and Conditions (Revised 2020)

	10 Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review and the Impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act: SKDC perspective
	11 Work Programme

